1967

The State Of Utah v. Eugene Meyers : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from a criminal case wherein the appellant seeks review of a judgment and conviction of possession of narcotic drugs rendered by a jury on the 8th day of February, 1967 before the Honorable Merrill C. Faux, Judge.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The defendant was tried by Jury and convicted of Possession of a Narcotic Drug, to wit: Heroin and

Demeral, in a three-day trial. A stay of execution was granted pending this appeal.

The defendant's motion to quash the search warrant was held before the Honorable Marcellus K. Snow on April 20, 1966 and denied. Defendant's motion to suppress all items seized and any oral testimony as to what was seized or observed was held on November 29, 1965 before the Honorable Bryant H. Croft and denied. The defendant's motion for new trial was held before the Honorable Merrill C. Faux on the 3rd day of March, 1967 and denied.

At the time of trial, the motion to suppress was renewed and denied. A continuing objection was preserved by the defendant with permission of the trial court, Honorable Merrill C. Faux.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks a reversal of the lower court's ruling on the motion to quash the search warrant, motion to suppress the items taken from the premises and oral testimony relating thereto and the admissibility of statements of the defendant. In the alternative, the appellant seeks a judgment of acquittal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant was charged with possession of narcotic drugs, to wit: heroin, dilandid and demeral on the 29th day of June, 1965.

Officer Fran Kari of the Salt Lake City Police Department, accompanied by Officers Donald D. Lindsey and Daniel W. Waters, went to a residence located at 553 Third Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah on June 29, 1965 at approximately 9:30 a.m. (Tr. 41) The avowed purpose of going to the residence was to serve a "search warrant" which called for the pickup of one Elizabeth Ann Glasgow, a minor, who was believed to be harbored at the residence by the appellant and Dave Beckstead. (Tr-154) The method of obtaining the search warrant is referred below in Point II.

Upon their arrival, they observed a Mr. Brown, who identified himself as a property-manager for Tracy-Collins Bank and Trust. (Tr-115) Mr. Brown stated that he was there to investigate a complaint of nuisance. (Tr-115) The residence had been rented to one Mrs. Gibson on June 17, 1965 on a monthly basis. (Tr-116) The rent, in fact, was current at the time of this incident. (Tr-132) The rental agreement, Exhibit 3, was received in evidence over defendant's objection as to no foundation. (Tr-202) Mrs. Gibson was identified as Virginia Hall through a photograph. (Tr-117) The appellant was also outside of the residence when the officers arrived. (Tr-42, 117) Mr. Brown had let himself inside the residence and, after hearing the door bell, answered the door and the defendant was at the door. (Tr-117) It was at this point that the officers arrived. (Tr-119) Whereupon, Mr. Brown "gave them permission to enter the house." (Tr-119) The defendant, who also entered, was standing behind the kitchen

door. (Tr-119) Francis Kari informed Mr. Brown that she had a search and seizure warrant and Mr. Brown stated that it was alright. (Tr-154) In response to her inquiry, the appellant said that he "was there to mow the lawn." (Tr-156, 170) Francis Kari did not show Mr. Brown or the defendant the warrant. (Tr-42, 129, 165) Officer Lindsey having entered the house talked to the defendant whereupon defendant made the statement about mowing the lawn. (Tr-54) The appellant did not ask for a warrant. (Tr-50, 54) This officer testified that he entered the residence under the authority of the search warrant and with the permission of Mr. Brown. (Tr-54).

After entering the house the officers proceeded to search the premises ultimately reaching an upstairs locked bedroom, marked Bedroom "A" on Exhibits 2-D. (Tr-134, 139) Mr. Brown, the trustee, did not have the key so Officer Lindsey dispatched Officer Waters to obtain the same from the main office of Tracy-Collins Bank and Trust (Tr-54, 32) with the permission of Mr. Brown. (Tr-32) Between the time of entry into the house and the unlocking of Bedroom "A", the appellant was permitted to leave. (Tr-33, 57) No conversation was had concerning the locked Bedroom "A".

Upon entering Bedroom "A", it became apparent to all three officers that there was no one present. (Tr-33, 44, 58) Whereupon, Officers Lindsey and Waters began to open closet doors, bureau drawers,

ruffle bed sheets and search under the mattresses and bed. (Tr-122, 211, 225) Their avowed purpose was to find something as to the whereabouts of Elizabeth Ann Glasgow. (Tr-34, 122) Officer Kari proceeded to inspect the night stand located near the bed. (Tr-44, 158) Her stated purpose was to determine whether the minor child had been there or where she might be. (Tr-46)

The night stand is approximately 24-30 inches tall with two or three drawers. (Tr-77) It was so constructed that the bottom of the night stand was flush against the rug. (Tr-119) The only opening was in the back facing the wall. (Tr-177) Officer Kari pulled the night stand away from the wall and observed a paper sack between the floor and the bottom of the last drawer, (Tr-48) the contents of which were immediately placed on the bed and examined by Officers Lindsey and Waters. (Tr-158) Out of this paper sack came a plastic bag containing various pills, prescription bottles and prescription blanks. (Exhibit 5). (Tr-197) Moreover, a gum wrapper holding three demeral tablets, (Exhibits 6) another gum wrapper with demeral pills, (Exhibit 8) a medicine container holding a clear liquid, tested and identified as heroin, (Exhibit 9) two clear gelatin found in an Old Gold cigarette package, (Exhibit 10) (Tr-218) heroin, (Exhibit 10) and a bottle containing heroin and demeral capsules (Exhibit 11) were obtained from the plastic bag. (Tr-113, 232, 235) Other items found in the plastic bag were found to be pills, some of which contained codine.

(Tr-232) This proposed Exhibit 7 and testimony relating thereto was stricken by the trial court on defense counsel's motion (Tr-233) and the jury was admonished. (Tr-233)

The principle witness for the state in establishing the possession charge comes from the testimony of Elizabeth Ann Glasgow, a minor, and statements purportedly made by the defendant to Officer Lindsey concerning the defendant's clothing, found in Bedroom "A". These will be handled in turn.

Elizabeth Ann Glasgow, age 15, testified that she was residing at 553 Third Avenue, Salt Lake City on the last three weeks of June, 1965. (Tr-133) She moved in on June 14, 1965, some two days before the rental agreement had been executed. (Tr-141) She may be mistaken as to the date. (Tr-141) She had lived with the defendant, Dave Beckstead and Virginia Hall. The defendant roomed with Virginia Hall and the keys to the Bedroom "A" were held by both. (Tr-135) The defendant's stay was apparently intermittent and occasional. (Tr-136) In the latter part of June, 1965 she saw the defendant twice with something foreign in his hand, to wit, a bottle with pills, however she never was able to identify the items nor did she ever have a conversation with the defendant concerning them. (Tr-137) She recognized the paper bag, Exhibit 5, found under the night stand (Tr-138), and testified as follows:

Q. (by Kay Lewis) : Miss Glasgow, have you seen the defendant himself take those pills or put any pills into this bag, or a bag similar to this?

A. No, I haven't. (Tr-138)

She did see Virginia Hall get pills from the bag (Tr-139) when only she and Virginia Hall were present. (Tr-146) Aside from white pills, larger than aspirin, and prescription bottles in the plastic bag, (Tr-147) she saw nothing else. (Tr-148) Further, she never witnessed Virginia Hall give the defendant any pills. (Tr-144) She left the house on the morning of June 29, 1965 and just prior to leaving, she saw or heard the defendant and Virginia Hall fighting. (Tr-141, 255) Elizabeth Ann Glasgow, herself, was a runaway and was aware that the Juvenile authorities were looking for her. (Tr-245)

Officer Donald B. Lindsey testified substantially as to the same facts as heretofore indicated. In addition thereto, he indicated that he had a conversation with the defendant regarding the clothing and other items, such as portable TV, Old Gold cigarettes, auto battery and wrist watches, (Tr-71) and driver's license bearing the defendant's name and a different address. (Tr-301) These items were seized at Mr. Brown's request for safekeeping (Tr-72) and remain in the police evidence room.

In response to the question as to what items were found in Bedroom "A", Officer Lindsey volunteered the statement "There were prescription blanks, pill

bottles of various types, and clothing around, which belonged to the defendant." (Tr-172) The latter's statement regarding the ownership of the clothing was stricken as being a conclusion on the part of the witness. (Tr-173)

Thereafter, the prosecutor attempted to admit the defendant's admission as to the clothing. (Tr-173) At the defendant's request an out of jury hearing was held. (Tr-174) At this time, defense counsel moved for mistrial on the basis that the defense counsel requested an out of jury hearing before the crucial question was asked with regard to any conversation had with the defendant. (Tr-174) This was denied. (Tr-175)

During the out of jury hearing, Officer Lindsey could not recall the dates of the conversation nor did he take notes of the two conversations held with the defendant. (Tr-175) These conversations were had after the defendant had been charged. (Tr-175) and he was considered a suspect in this possession charge. (Tr-176) Defendant was not advised of his right to counsel. (Tr-176) The first conversation was a telephone call initiated by the defendant; (Tr-178) the second, in the police car enroute from the city court to jail, while he was in custody. (Tr-179) No Miranda warning was given in either case. (Tr-180) At the time of both conversations, the Officer Lindsey was well aware that defendant was represented by counsel. (Tr-183) In both conversations, the officer indicated that

the defendant wanted his clothes, tool box, car battery, and records returned. (Tr-180) A motion to suppress was made on the ground that the Miranda warnings were not met and further on the grounds that since there was no authority under the search warrant to seize the items and since the consent of Mr. Brown, ~~OF PROPERTY WAS NOT BINDING ON THE DEFENDANT~~ excludible on the "Poisonous fruit" doctrine; (Tr-184) and further that the taking of the ~~above items~~ the clothes, portable TV, Old Gold cigarettes, wrist watches and auto battery was unlawful and therefore any conversation relating thereto would be tainted and excludible on the "Poisonous fruit" doctrine; (Tr-184) and further that the taking of the above items were accomplished solely for evidentiary value, thus coming with the prohibition of the "Mere evidence rule." (Tr-193) The motion was denied. (Tr-190) A continuing objection was preserved. (Tr-191)

The jury was reconvened and Officer Lindsey testified as to the first telephone conversation and the second police car conversation wherein the defendant stated that he wanted some of the things taken from Bedroom "A" returned, to wit: the clothing, auto battery, and auto accessory. (Tr-190) On cross-examination, he indicated that the conversations were had after the instant case was initially dismissed by the committing magistrate. (Tr-209) This matter was refiled. (Tr-209).

Thereafter, Officers Lindsey and Waters proceeded to establish the identity of the items found in the

plastic bag and established the chain of evidence. (Tr-194, 202; 218-230)

Officer Fran Kari was recalled to testify that she observed the defendant reach in his pocket and conceal something under the rug on the stairway leading to the upstairs (Tr-249) An out of jury-hearing was held at defense counsel's request and an objection was made regarding any of the above testimony as to the hiding of the pills on the grounds that the State was unable to show that the items were of narcotic character, which would fall within the categories listed in the Information. (Tr-164) This testimony was ordered stricken and the jury admonished. (Tr-251) Defense counsel's motion for mistrial on the basis that the admonition by the court would not remove the prejudiced effect imbedded in the minds of the jury was denied. (Tr-251) Prosecutor was admonished by the trial court. (Tr-251)

The state rested. (Tr-251) The defendant's motion to dismiss was denied. (Tr-251) In considering the defendant's motion to dismiss, the trial court expressed doubt as to submitting the matter to the jury since there had not been any proof that the defendant knew of its narcotic character. (Tr-253) However, the trial court then considered the stricken testimony of Francis Kari as to observing the defendant secreting some items under the carpet. (Tr-254-255) The trial court recognized the error of striking the testimony from the jury and yet restoring it for the purpose of considering the

motion to dismiss. (Tr-257) Trial court reversed his ruling and permitted the testimony of Francis Kari to be re-instated for the purpose of this motion, (Tr-259) and on the ultimate issue of guilt or innocence. (Tr-266, 275)

At this point, defense counsel requested that the items be produced and examined as to narcotic character to rebut the inference that is in the minds of the jury that the items were narcotics. (Tr-259) The items were, in fact, co-mingled with other pills at the police station and could not be separated or found at this time. (Tr-259) The trial was continued for one week with the defendant's consent, for the purpose of locating the pills and analyzation. (Tr-261)

As the trial resumed a week later, after much discussion as to the court's procedure, Officer Fran Kari was cross-examined by defense counsel. (Tr-278) She did not see anything in the defendant's hands which was passed underneath the carpet of the stairway, (Tr-278) and she could not recall what the pill and capsule looked like. (Tr-279-280) She turned the items over to the narcotics man unmarked. (Tr-282)

Thereafter, Officer Donald B. Lindsey was recalled on further direct examination. (Tr-289) Over defense counsel's objection, he was permitted to testify that items turned over to him by Fran Kari were a red capsule, which in his opinion was secondal, non-narcotic and a pill which was tuinal, non-narcotic. (Tr-

300) He had no opinion as to another item which he found himself. (Tr-314)

Defense counsel's motion to dismiss was renewed and denied. (Tr-314) Motion for mistrial was renewed and denied. The word "dilaudid" was stricken from the Information and the jury instructed to disregard it. (Tr-315) One specific motion for mistrial was renewed with respect to State's Exhibit 7 and 17, which established that codine was also found in the Bedroom "A" (Tr-316), which evidence and exhibits were stricken from the jury. This motion was denied. (Tr-317) The motion to suppress was again raised and denied. (Tr-317) The defense rested with a statement that no evidence could be presented in behalf of the defendant without jeopardizing his rights in the unlawful search and seizure or his rights on the ultimate issue of guilt or innocence. (Tr-318)

The matter was submitted to the jury and the defendant was found guilty of the charge. Defendant's motion for new trial was argued on March 3, 1967 and denied. (Tr-353) A stay of execution of the sentence was granted pending this appeal upon the filing of a certificate of probable cause signed by Justice A. H. Ellett. (Tr-354)

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT STANDING TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN VIOLA-

TION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AGAINST UNLAWFUL SEARCHES AND SEIZURES.

This is a case of first impression in the State of Utah on the precise issue herein presented. In presenting this matter, it should be kept in mind that the defendant's initial motion to suppress was denied after hearing on the sole basis that the defendant, under the facts hereafter referred to, did not have standing to raise the objection as to the violation of his constitutional right against unlawful search and seizure. The hearing on this motion is included in the appeal transcript on pages 24-85, inclusive. At the time of the trial, the motion to suppress was renewed at the commencement of the trial and after the State rested and denied each time. (Tr-92). A continuing objection was preserved. (Tr-92) Since the precise issue is that of standing to assert a constitutional right, reference to the evidence in support of this point on appeal will not be limited to testimony adduced at the time of the hearing on the motion to suppress, but will include all the evidence produced at trial.

The issue of standing is essentially two fold: Did the defendant have sufficient constitutionally protected interest in the premises searched, to wit: 553 Third Avenue, or Bedroom "A" (?) Did the defendant have a sufficient legal interest in the items seized where the offense with which he is charged requires some dominion and control by the defendant (?)

The question whether a specific interest in the premises unlawfully searched is a sufficient basis to object to an introduction of evidence so obtained is well settled. The United States Supreme Court discusses at length the interest in the premises as a requisite of an accused's standing to raise the question of the constitutionality of the search. In the leading case of *United States v. Jeffers*, 342 U.S. 48, 96 L. Ed. 59, (1951), the court sweeps away any heretofore subtle distinctions as that of lessee, sublessee, tenant by sufferance of licensee and puts the issue of standing squarely upon the principles which appellant contends should be herein employed.

The defendant, Jeffers, stored contraband narcotics in a hotel room without the knowledge of the occupants who had permitted him to use the room. Without search or arrest warrants, police officers gained access to the room in the absence of the defendant and the occupants, searched it, and seized the narcotics. On the basis of the seized narcotics, defendant was convicted of possession.

In an opinion by Justice Clark, six members of the court held that the constitutional guaranty against unreasonable searches and seizures had been violated, notwithstanding that "no property rights shall exist" in contraband goods, and that the defendant had standing to have the evidence suppressed although the illegal seizure was made in rooms rented by other persons.

In the case at bar the officers searched without a warrant as the instrument itself gave no authority to search but rather to arrest and take into possession the juvenile. The *Jeffers* case, supra, as in this case should be resolved without regard to largely historical property distinctions. Justice Clark in the *Jeffers* case comments on such distinctions when they are in conflict with principle in this manner,

“The search and seizure are therefore, incapable of being untied. To hold that this search and seizure were lawful as to the defendant would permit a quibbling distinction to overturn a principal which was designed to protect a fundamental right.”

The government in the *Jeffers* case argued that the search did not invade the defendant's privacy and he therefore lacked the necessary standing to suppress. The significant act according to the government was the seizure, not the search. Because the defendant, Jeffers, had not paid the rent or was not a sublessee, he could not object to the search. The search was secondary. The court rejected such reasoning and has placed to rest such intangible subtleties which heretofore were largely founded upon real property concepts where such concepts are inconsistent with constitutional rights.

Permission to use the room is all that appellant herein must show to have the requisite standing to object to its search. The fact that his personal clothing and drivers license were in the room, supported by

Elizabeth Glasgow's testimony of the interval of occupancy by appellant herein (Tr-136), and the defendant's admission as to the return of his clothes (Tr-195-196), conclusively permit him to object and to suppress the evidence therein obtained. The trial court had all of this evidence before him after the State rested.

The *Jeffers* case, *supra*, also is cited by appellant for another novel proposition. The government contended that no property rights within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment exist in narcotics because they are contraband goods in which the legislature declared no property rights exist. In disposing of this assertion the court said,

"We are of the opinion that Congress, in abrogating property rights in such goods merely intended to aid in their forfeiture and thereby prevent the spread of the traffic in drugs rather than to abolish the exclusionary rule formulated by the courts in furtherance of the high purposes of the Fourth Amendment. See *Re Fried*, 161 F.2d 453, 1 ALR 2d 996 (1947)."

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