1967

The State Of Utah v. Eugene Meyers : Respondent's Brief

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

Since the contraband narcotics seized by the officers was lawfully obtained, it could be used to prosecute appellant for an offense totally unrelated to that upon which the search was founded. See **Gouled v. United States**, 255 U.S. 298, (1920); and **Boyd v. United States**, 116 U.S. 616 (1886).

In **Harris v. U.S.**, *supra*, the court stated at 331 U.S. 145, 155:

. . . A crime was thus being committed in the very presence of the agents conducting the search. Nothing in the decisions of the court give support to the suggestion that under such circumstances the law-enforcement officials must impotently stand aside and refrain from seizing such contraband material. If entry upon the premises be authorized and the search which followed be valid, there is nothing in the Fourth Amendment which inhibits the seizure by law-enforcement agents of . . . property the possession of which is a crime, even though the officers are not aware that such property is on the premises when the search is initiated.

Even though the search of the apartment was authorized for one purpose, i.e., the runaway girl, the taking of contraband narcotics found in that search would not be in violation of appellant's constitutional rights. The evidence was admissible against defendant in this action, and the trial court properly refused to quash the warrant or suppress the evidence.

POINT II

APPELLANT DISCLAIMED AND DIS-
AVOWED ANY INTEREST IN THE PREMISES
SEARCHED, CONSENTED TO THE SEARCH,
AND THEREFOR LACKED STANDING TO
MOVE TO SUPPRESS NARCOTICS SEIZED AS
A RESULT OF THE SEARCH.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States
Constitution reads as follows:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons
houses, papers, and effects, against **unreasonable**
searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no
warrant shall issue upon probable cause, supported
by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing
the place to be searched, and the persons or things
to be seized. (emphasis added.)

Utah Const. art. I, § 14, provides, in effect, the
same guarantees against unreasonable searches
and seizures.

The Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of
the United States has been made applicable to the
states and enforceable against the states through
the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment. See **Wolfe v. Colorado**, 338 U.S. 25, (1949); **Ker**
v. California, *supra*. A person may waive his right to
be free from unreasonable search and seizures, and
no rule of public policy forbids such waiver. One
can validly consent to a search of his premises, and
consent will render competent the evidence thus
obtained. By consent to a search and waiver of right
to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures
the defendant relinquishes the protection of the
Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution

which prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures, and also relinquished protection given by the state constitution's provision against unlawful search and seizure. See **State v. Little**, 270 N.C. 234, S.E.2d 61 (1961); **People v. Harris**, 34 Ill.2d 282, 215 N.E.2d 214, cert. den. 384 U.S. 993 (1966). Although a consent to a search must be proved by the prosecution by clear and positive evidence and that there must be no duress or coercion, actual or implied, the prosecution must show that consent is unequivocal and specific, freely and intelligently given. (See **Judd v. United States**, 190 F.2d 649 (C.A.D.C. 1951); **Johnson v. Zerbst**, 304 U.S. 458, (1938).

In this instance the officers were validly on the premises to make a search thereof. Consequently, the consent, or lack thereof, by the appellant was not necessary in order for the officers to search the premises.

Although appellant argues that he did not consent, and that he did not waive any interest in and to the premises to be searched or disclaim any interest in and to the premises to be searched, it has been stated that the determination of the voluntariness of the consent must be tested by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the purported waiver or disclaimer of the constitutional rights. See **Shultz v. United States**, 351 F.2d 287 (10th Cir. 1965), **United States v. Burgos**, 269 F.2d 763 (2nd Cir. 1959).

All the evidence, including the various circumstances of the giving of consent or disclaimer, must be objectively viewed with diligent care by the trial

court, and if the court finds no evidence showing coercion or duress, it is proper to hold that the consent was voluntary or the disclaimer was voluntary and was knowledgable on the part of the defendant.

Since the appellant, at the time of his motion to suppress, motion to quash, or at the time of trial, offered no testimony or evidence contradictory to the evidence concerning his disclaimer and waiver, the statement of facts regarding his disclaimer and waiver remains unchallenged.

Such was the finding of the trial court, and the appellant offered no contradictory evidence with respect thereto. It follows that this court should uphold that determination by the trial court. Since the trial court, having the advantage of seeing and hearing the witnesses and being able to evaluate their credibility, is in the best position to weigh the significance of the pertinent facts involved and determine whether, under the totality of all the facts and circumstances, the defendant voluntarily consented to the search or disclaimed any interest in and to the property to be searched, this court should affirm that determination of the trial court.

In disclaiming and disavowing any interest in the premises, the appellant stated he was just there to cut the lawn (TR-118, 155, 170). He further consented that the search "was all right with him" (TR-155). He claimed he did not live at the residence to be searched, and did not ask to see the search warrant (TR-49, 50, 54). Respondent submits that this uncontroverted testimony constitutes a disclaimer and

disavowal of any interest in and to the premises searched, and further constitutes a consent to search.

The following cases have held language similar to that of appellant's sufficient to constitute consent to search:

People v. Hood, 149 Cal. App. 36, 309 P.2d 135 (1957)—“Go ahead.”

People v. Burke, 47 Cal.2d 45, 301 P.2d 241 (1956)—“Go ahead.”

In re Watson's Petition, 146 Mont. 125, 404 P.2d 315 (1965)—“Yes, go right ahead; I have nothing to hide.”

People v. Galle, 153 Cal. App. 88, 314 P.2d 58 (1957),—“Go right ahead.”

People v. McCoy, 16 Cal. Rptr. 117 (1961)—“Well, go ahead. It's not my room.”

State v. Tuttle, 16 Utah 2d 288, 399 P.2d 580 (1965)—If they (Town Marshall) wanted to go ahead knowing they were violating the law to make the search, . . . they could go.

As a general proposition, the law with respect to disclaimer of interest is stated in 79 C.J.S. **Searches and Seizures**, § 60 (1952) as follows:

When a person disclaims interest in the premises or possessions searched, or in the article seized, he cannot question the legality of the search and seizure.

See also **Show v. United States**, 209 F.2d 298 (C.A., D.C. 1953). **cert. den.** 347 U.S. 905 (1954); **Commonwealth v. Mayer**, 359 Mass 253, 207 NE.2d 686

(1965); **Parr v. United States**, 255 F.2d 86 (5th Cir. 1958); **Neil v. State**, 206 Tenn. 492, 344 S.W.2d 731 (1960).

Assuming, **arguendo**, that the search warrant issued by the Juvenile Court was invalid, the appellant nonetheless consented to the search and disclaimed any interest in the premises searched or property seized. As such he cannot now claim that his rights have been violated. Respondent submits, however, that the officers were legally on the premises by reason of the search warrant, and the appellant's consent and disclaimer further supports the validity of the search and seizure.

By reason of the disclaimer and consent of appellant, he lacked standing to move to suppress the narcotics seized. Appellant relies heavily on the case of **United States v. Jeffers**, 342 U.S. 48 (1951). However that case is easily distinguishable in that in the **Jeffers** case the police officers who conducted the search of the hotel room which Jeffers had access to did not have a search warrant, nor were the occupants of the room present at the time of the search. The court stated at 342 U.S. 52:

. . . In entering the room and making the search for the sole purpose of seizing respondent's narcotics, the officers not only proceeded without a warrant or other legal authority, but their intrusion was conducted surreptitiously and by means denounced as criminal.

In this case, as previously pointed out, the officers were on the premises properly, armed with a

warrant, and further had the consent of defendant to search and his disclaimer and disavowal of any interest in and to the premises.

In **Jones v. United States**, 362 U.S. 257, (1960), the defendant was present at the time of the search. The court, at 362 U.S. 267, recognized that:

. . . anyone legitimately on premises where a search occurs may challenge its legality by way of a motion to suppress, when its fruits are proposed to be used against him.

The question then posed is whether or not the appellant was legitimately on the premises in order that the merits of his motion to suppress be adjudicated. The trial court, having considered the same, concluded that the appellant had no proper standing to move to suppress by reason of that fact that he had previously disclaimed any interest in and to the premises (see Memorandum Decision, TR 362-370).

The trial court could and did find that the appellant's statement to the police amounted to a total disclaimer or disavowal of any right or interest in connection with the premises. Accordingly the police could take him at his word. The defendant cannot now be heard to complain that his constitutional rights were violated.

In **People v. McCoy**, *supra*, a somewhat similar case wherein the defendant disclaimed any interest to the premises, the court held the evidence

seized admissable against defendant, stating at 16 Cal. Reprtr. 117, 118:

"We do not believe the appellant's false disclaimer of residency vitiated the consent given to search the room; the evidence obtained was not inadmissible as the product of an unlawful search and seizure."

In the case of **State v. Montayne**, 18 Utah 2d 38, 414 P.2d 958, 960, (1966), this court stated:

In approaching the problem of standing, the origin and nature of the rule concerning suppression should be noted. Evidence is suppressed or excluded only if the same was obtained by a violation of the Fourth Amendment, designed to protect a person's right of privacy and property. Evidence sought to be excluded is admissible, however, until the accused has established that his rights under the rule have been invaded. Citing **Murray v. United States**, 338 F.2d 409 (10th Cir. 1964). See **Jones v. United States**, 362 U.S. 257, 80 S.C. 125, 4 L.Ed.2d 697 (1960).

Therefore, it is entirely proper to require of one who seeks to challenge the legality of a search as a basis for suppressing relevant evidence that he alleges, and if the allegation be disputed, that he establish, that he himself was a victim of an invasion of privacy. Under this philosophy, the appellant has no standing because he was not a victim of an invasion of privacy. To give a person standing who neither alleges nor establishes the proprietary nor possessory interest in the car and who in fact was without ownership therein, so determined before the search was made, would clearly be an extension beyond the scope that the constitutional protection was intended to cover.

The appellant did not in any sense contradict

the testimony of the officers, nor was there any evidence offered by the appellant that there had been any coercion or that appellant was submitting to any implied authority at the occasion at the residence located at 553 Third Avenue, or that appellant did not know what he was doing at the time. Full opportunity was afforded the appellant to show force, duress, or other improper methods used, if such was the fact. This he entirely failed to do. Appellant also failed to demonstrate that he was the victim of an invasion of privacy.

Respondent submits that the trial court's finding in this regard should not be disturbed in view of the fact that the evidence in the record does not compell a different finding since the appellant herein did not offer any testimony or evidence with respect to such disclaimer of interest in and to the premises to be searched, waiver of his right to object to the search, or consent to the search. See **Cassity v. Castagno**, 10 Utah 2d 16, 347 P.2d 834 (1959); **Napp v. Life Insurance Corp. of America**, 8 Utah 2d 220, 332 P.2d 662 (1959); **DeVas v. Noble**, 13 Utah 2d 133, 369 P.2d 290, **cert. den.**, 371 U.S. 821 (1962).

As this Court stated in **State v. Tuttle, supra**, at 399 P.2d 580, 582:

“The practical exigencies of a trial render it imperative that the trial judge have the prerogative of ruling upon questions of admissability of evidence and upon issues of fact incidental to that purpose. For this reason, and because of his position of advantage to observe the demeanor of witnesses and

other factors bearing on credibility, his ruling thereon should not be disturbed unless it clearly appears he was in error. If the court were not indulged this prerogative and were bound by any story which a self-interested witness may tell which could make a search unlawful, it requires but brief reflection to reveal what mischief could result in thwarting efforts of officers proceeding reasonably and in good faith to solve crimes and enforce the law."

POINT III

THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE CONVICTION OF APPELLANT.

Officer Lindsey testified as to certain conversations had with appellant following the filing of a complaint against appellant for this offense. The conversations did not take on the complexion of questioning or interrogation (TR-177, 178).

The first conversation was a telephone call from appellant to Officer Lindsey, wherein,

"... he told me he wanted to get his things we had taken out of that apartment." (TR 178), (see also TR 195).

The second conversation occurred in a police vehicle, also between appellant and Officer Lindsey. Among other subjects discussed,

"... Mr. Meyers said he wanted to get his stuff back." (TR 179), (see also TR 196).

Prescription bottles were taken by the officers from bedroom "A" with the name "Eugene Meyers"

on the label (TR 198). Tablets, pills, capsules, and the prescription bottles were all found in a paper bag (TR 198). Certain of the contents of that bag were later determined to be narcotics (TR-232, 233, 234,). Appellant's driver's license was taken from the room, plus articles of clothing and other personal property (TR-301). Appellant stayed in bedroom "A", had a key to that bedroom, was seen coming and going from that residence, and was observed in bedroom "A" with a bottle containing pills (TR-135-138).

Respondent submits there was sufficient evidence before the jury from which it could determine beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant was guilty of the offense charged.

Yet appellant complains that he was prejudiced by the trial court allowing Officer Lindsey's testimony concerning the conversations had between the officer and appellant, since no **MIRANDA** warnings were given to appellant.

In the case of **Miranda v. State of Arizona**, 383 U.S. 903 (1966) the Supreme Court specifically pointed out that the decision is limited to in-custody interrogation in a police dominated atmosphere. The Court stated at 86 S. Ct. 1612:

"By custodial interrogation, we mean questioning **initiated** by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody. . . ' (emphasis added)

The Court further stated at page 1630:

"Any statement given freely and voluntarily without any compelling influence is, of course, admissible in evidence . . . There is no requirement that police stop a person . . . who calls the police to offer a confession or any other statement he desires to make. Volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth Amendment and are not affected by our holding today."

The telephone conversation was admitted in evidence as a declaration or admission against interest by appellant, not as a confession to the crime charged. The second conversation for the same reason. There was no substantive difference in the two conversations. Neither conversation took on the complexion of questioning or interrogation, and it should be pointed out that the telephone conversation was initiated by the appellant. Respondent submits that both conversations were entered into voluntarily by appellant without any compelling influence whatsoever.

Assuming, **arguendo**, that the second conversation, standing alone, would not be admissible, respondent submits that by reason of the fact that the first and second conversations are basically identical, the admission of the second conversation is at best harmless error with no resulting prejudice to appellant. There is nothing in the record to indicate a denial of right or abuse of a privilege which put the appellant at any substantial disadvantage or prejudice by reason of the admission of the second conversation.

The alleged error in the admission of appellant's statements can and should be disregarded by

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